
Agenda
Zoning Board of Appeals

Municipal Building, 625 52nd Street – Room 204, Kenosha, WI
Tuesday, May 14, 2024

5:00 pm

Amy Lonergan, Chairperson Mathew Loewen
Brandon Gray, Vice-Chairperson Aishia Nunez
Mitch Ferraro Shane Hollerich - Alternate

Andrew Schmidt - Alternate

Call to Order
Roll Call
Citizen Comments

Approval of the Minutes from the Meeting held December 5, 2023

1. Request for Administrative Appeal from SPV3, LLC for forfeiture of a Temporary Occupancy Cash
Performance Deposit [Section 8.04 D.4.] for a property at 2812 21st Street; Zoning– Rm-2-
Multiple-Family Residential District; (District 5). PUBLIC HEARING

Commissioners' Comments

IF YOU ARE DISABLED AND NEED ASSISTANCE, PLEASE CALL 653-4030 BY NOON
OF THIS MEETING DATE TO MAKE ARRANGEMENTS FOR REASONABLE ON-SITE ACCOMMODATIONS.

City of Kenosha, 625 52nd Street, Kenosha Wisconsin 53140 | T: 262-653-4030 |citydevelopment@kenosha.org
KENOSHA.ORG

mailto:cityclerk@kenosha.org


Dr
aft

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS
Minutes

December 5, 2023

MEMBERS PRESENT: Amy Lonergan, Mitch Ferraro, Brandon Gray, Mathew
Loewen, and Aishia Nunez

MEMBERS EXCUSED:

STAFF PRESENT: Brian Wilke, Development Coordinator, Gary Roberts,
Director of City Inspections.

The meeting was called to order at 5:00pm by Amy Lonergan, roll call was taken and a
quorum was present.

Opening Remarks by Ms. Lonergan - welcome Andrew Schmidt as our new alternate
board member.

Citizens Comments - None

A motion was made by Mr. Ferraro, seconded by Mr. Gray to approve the minutes of
October 24, 2023. The motion passed. (Ayes 5, Noes 0)

1. Request for Administrative Appeal from Greg Stock for orders to remove
a gravel parking pad [Section 6.01 A.2.] for a property at 7843 19th Avenue;
Zoning – Rs-3- Single-Family Residential District; District 13. PUBLIC
HEARING

Mr. Wilke introduced Gary Roberts, Director of City Inspections and went over the Staff
report. He went over the difference between a Zoning Variance and a Zoning Appeal as
there are different requirements. Staff recommendation is to deny the Administrative
Appeal.

Mr. Wilke noted the following facts must apply:

a) That there is a reasonable difference of interpretation as to the specific intent
of the word, term, rule, regulation, provision and restrictions of the Ordinance.

� Staff Comment: The rules of a driveway apron width are clear in the Zoning
Ordinance. The applicant’s parking pad is clearly wider on the private
property side than the driveway approach in the public right-of-way.

Staff believes there is no other interpretation of the rules governing
parking on a residential property..

b) That the resulting interpretation will not grant a special privilege to one (1)
property inconsistent with other properties or uses similarly situated.

Zoning Board of Appeals December 5, 2023



Dr
aft

� Staff Comment: Staff has not permitted any similar type of parking pads on
other residential properties within the City.

Granting of the appeal would grant a special privilege to this property
and set a precedent for future properties to construct the same gravel
pad adjacent to the driveway apron in front of a residence.

c) That the resulting interpretation is in the best interest of the City of Kenosha
and consistent with the spirit and intent of this Ordinance.

� Staff Comment: The spirit and intent of the Zoning Ordinance is to limit
off-street parking to a paved driveway, a garage, and/or the rear yard of the
property.

Granting of the appeal would not meet the spirit or intent of the Zoning
Ordinance.

Public Hearing opened.

Gregory Stock, 7843 19th Avenue, applicant, found that other properties in the City also
had issues with parking on their properties. He put this gravel pad in professionally
because he is handicap and has four vehicles to park. His neighbor put up a fence which
makes it difficult to open car doors in his driveway. This spot is needed with alternate side
parking during the winter months and there is nowhere to park. He is asking for some
leeway.

Mr. Ferraro asked Staff to repeat the three criteria.

Mr. Wilke read over the criteria.

Mr. Ferraro asked if there should be grass and no parking is allowed in the front yard?

Mr. Wilke replied yes.

Mr. Ferraro asked if he could park in the back of the house with a gravel pad?

Mr. Wilke replied yes, the ordinance states parking is limited to the property’s backyard or
driveway apron.

Mr. Ferraro asked about the wrap around driveway mentioned by the applicant.

Mr. Wilke said he is not sure without knowing all the details.

Mr. Ferraro asked the applicant if he could park in his backyard?

Mr. Stock replied no because of the neighbor’s fence.

Mr. Ferraro asked if he knew if the neighbor’s fence was on his property line?

Mr. Stock stated he did not know as there was no survey done due to cost. He said he has
handicap signs in front of his house but he can’t use the spot due to alternate side parking
in the winter months. Street parking is limited with all the neighbors vehicles.

Zoning Board of Appeals December 5, 2023



Dr
aft

Mr. Ferraro asked Staff because of the alternate parking season can the orders be moved
out to a later date until alternate parking is over? Is there any leniency we could have for
the orders?

Mr. Wilke replied no, the ordinance is the ordinance.

Mr. Roberts replied no I don’t see any.

Ms. Nunez asked if there is any permission or permit he can get due to his handicap status
from the City to do this?

Mr. Roberts stated the City allowed handicap parking signs for him in front of his house so
he could handicap park there.

Mr. Stock stated in other cities he can park at any time in a handicap spot either side of the
street.

Ms. Lonergan replied the alternate side parking is because of the plows. There are no
exemptions to the ordinance because of alternate parking. If we would allow this for one
person we would then have to do it for all and went over the criteria.

Mr. Stock said he will never put the parking pad back to grass.

Mr. Loewen asked if there was a way to find out if the fence was legally placed without
having to pay for a survey? He asked the applicant if there are property stakes?

Mr. Stock stated he cannot find them.

Mr. Wilke replied a surveyor is required to determine lot lines.

Mr. Roberts stated that a property owner can put up a fence right on the property line.

Mr. Stock said it should have been stopped at the back of the house.

Mr. Roberts stated the code allows it.

Mr. Stock argued the point.

Mr. Gray stated this was all triggered by a neighbor who did not follow the proper channels.
Also, the contractor did not pull a fence permit. In regards to the ordinance is the issue that
it is wider than the apron - paved, unpaved or gravel?

Mr. Roberts replied yes, this is his interpretation.

Mr. Wlke also replied yes.

Mr. Gray stated that with these older neighborhoods the homes are smaller and the Zoning
Ordinance butt up against modern needs. This situation was triggered by a neighbor that
did not do their homework. We don’t change laws, we enforce them as they are
interpreted. He asked Staff because this was caused by a neighbor's inaction to follow City
regulations as well as the contractor, is there any recourse that can be done?

Mr. Roberts clarified that a fence permit was pulled by the neighbor. The issue was she did
Zoning Board of Appeals December 5, 2023



Dr
aft

not finish the fence before a previous permit expired.

Mr. Gray asked if there was any remedial course of action that can be done without setting
a precedence?

Mr. Wilke stated it is not the City’s obligation to provide off street parking for four vehicles. It
is the City’s interpretation that we cannot bend the rules for this situation.

Shane Hollerich, 12812 71st Street, asked if there are any ADA exceptional circumstances
given that he has ADA in front of his house and does this violate any ADA laws?

Mr. Gray stated that falls outside the scope of this board.

Ms. Lonergan stated that by providing the handicap parking in front of the house the City
has fully addressed the ADA. Maybe another solution would be to put up handicap parking
signs on the other side of the street due to the winter season of alternate side parking.

Andrew Schmidt, 902 46th Street, with alternate side parking you can park in the handicap
parking and don’t have to move to the other side of the street.

Ms. Lonergan stated that is correct unless it is a snow emergency and you cannot park in
the street at all.

Mr. Roberts stated you can park in your front yard during a snow emergency.

Ms. Nunez confirmed he is allowed a certain amount of space in the front yard to park to
start with and go to the back of his house. She asked because of his disability he is not
allowed to pave the front area and park there?

Ms. Lonergan replied correct that is why we are here. The front area of the yard is not
allowed for parking and cannot be wider than what the driveway is. If he moves it to the
back he can park, but with the neighbors fence he is not able to do that.

Mr. Gray asked if this is because it is next to the principle structure going back. He has a
parking space in back of his house that is wider than the apron.

Mr. Wilke stated it is where the driveway apron meets the sidewalk, it cannot be wider than
the approach in the right-of-way and it cannot be in front of the house.

Mr. Gray feels this falls under ADA.

Ms. Lonergan stated that most cars are wider today than they used to be. She verified with
the applicant that he has 90 inches in width on his driveway. The average car width is 72
inches, so you should still be able to get to the backyard.

Mr. Stock stated it is very tight and he has a side entry to his house.

Ms. Lonergan went through the three criteria. She asked if the applicant has applied for a
variance?

Mr. Stock replied he did not know he could.

Ms. Lonergan asked if he would be willing to apply for a variance?

Mr. Stock replied yes.

Zoning Board of Appeals December 5, 2023



Dr
aft

Public Hearing closed.

Ms. Lonergan asked Staff if this could be tabled and convert this from an appeal to a
variance request?

Mr. Wilke stated the recommendation would be to rule on this appeal and depending on the
outcome go from there. The board understands the rules and the criteria that also must be
met with the variance request.

Ms. Lonergan stated she is not sure he would meet the criteria for a variance either.

Mr. Gray asked how does ADA play into this?

Ms. Lonergan stated it doesn’t. This is something we are not even allowed to be
considered. The rule is we are not to grant special privilege to one property.

Mr. Loewen said looking at the picture provided in the packet if the applicant parks his truck
in the spot in question the other cars can fit in the driveway. Is the parking about all year
round or during the snow season?

Mr. Stock replied usually during the snow season.

Mr. Loewen confirmed the alternate side parking spot and using it during the snow season.
If this is just about parking when it is snowing there should not be a problem. You can park
on your property during a snow emergency.

Mr. Gray stated it is a separate issue with neighbors watching and complaining about
parking.

Mr. Ferraro confirmed that three cars can park in the driveway if they need to be parked off
the street.

Mr. Gray stated the challenge is getting out of the cars.

Mr. Ferraro confirmed there is a handicap parking spot in front of their house.

Ms. Lonergan stated you can park in the handicap spot in front of your house even during
alternate side parking.

Mr. Ferraro asked staff if he denies the appeal what are the next steps the applicant needs
to take?

Ms. Lonergan stated he could apply for a variance. It would need to be taken out and put
grass in, but he could still park there during a snow emergency.

Mr. Loewen feels it does not meet the three criteria with the solution that the applicant can
park on his front lawn when there is a snow emergency and be able to use his handicap
spot in front of his house during alternate side parking. I do not see that there is a problem.

A motion was made by Mr. Loewen, seconded by Ms. Nunez to deny the requested
administrative appeal. On a roll call vote the motion passed to deny. (Ayes 4, Noes 1-
Brandon Gray)

Ms. Lonergan explained to the applicant that his next step is to apply for a variance and to

Zoning Board of Appeals December 5, 2023



Dr
aft

contact Mr. Wilke.

Mr. Wilke stated the cost for a variance is $350.

2. Discussion on dates and times for regular scheduled monthly meetings.

Mr. Wilke went over the Staff report. Staff recommends establishing a set meeting
schedule for the benefit of the Board, Staff and applicants.

Ms. Lonergan had concerns on the amount of time from the file date to the meeting date.
She would like to see it more flexible.

Mr. Wilke stated the recommendation is 30 days because of meeting preparation and public
notices that have to go out.

Mr. Gray asked if this meeting schedule is set in stone?

Mr. Wilke replied as much as it can be, but we can possibly make adjustments if needed.
This schedule will also be used for the Board of Housing Appeals.

Mr. Ferraro asked what the time frame would be for notifying them if they will not be having
a meeting?

Mr. Wilke replied possibly the week after the filing date.

A motion to receive and file was made by Mr. Gray, seconded by Ms. Nunez. The motion
passed. (Ayes 5, Noes 0)

Board Member Comments –

Mr. Gray stated he did not mean to disagree with Staff on Item #1. He asked if there is any
way or anything that can help him?

Ms. Lonergan stated that he could have paid to get a survey done. She thanked the
alternates for attending the meeting and feels the meeting schedule will help.

A motion to adjourn was made by Mr. Ferraro, seconded by Mr. Loewen. The motion
passed. (Ayes 5, Noes 0) The meeting adjourned at 5:51 pm.

Certification that the minutes have been approved by the Zoning Board of Appeals.

___________________________________________
Rich Schroeder, Deputy Director of City Development

Meeting Minutes Prepared by: Laurie Bauman, City Development

Zoning Board of Appeals December 5, 2023




























	CURRENT_AGENDA
	120523zbaDRAFT__minutes
	Item1-SunPointeVillage-AdministrativeAppeal

